ERIE COUNTY LEGISLATURE RULES OF ORDER

2024





APRIL N.M. BASKIN

Chair

TIMOTHY J. MEYERS

Majority Leader

JOHN J. MILLS
Minority Leader

OLD ERIE COUNTY HALL – 92 FRANKLIN STREET, 4TH FLOOR BUFFALO, NEW YORK 14202

ADOPTED AT MEETING No. 2 – JANUARY 25, 2024

Erie County Legislature 2024 Rules of Order Table of Contents

SECTION 1.00	Organization				
	1.01	CHAIR	1		
	1.02	MAJORITY AND MINORITY LEADERS	2		
	1.03	ACTING CHAIR	2		
SECTION 2.00	MEETINGS 3				
	2.01	Regular Session	3		
	2.02	Special Meetings	3		
	2.03	QUORUM	3		
	2.04	Chair to Secure a Quorum	4		
	2.05	ROLL CALL, MINUTES, ABSENCES	4		
	2.06	Order of Business	4		
	2.07	Order During Session	5		
	2.08	Appeal From the Chair's Ruling	5		
	2.09	PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR	5		
	2.10	REFERRALS TO COMMITTEE	5		
	2.11	MEMBER NOT TO SPEAK OR LEAVE HIS OR HER PLACE	6		
	2.12	TIE VOTE	6		
	2.13	PRIORITY OF BUSINESS	6		
	2.14	LIMITATION ON TIME OF SPEECH	6		
	2.15	MAJORITY VOTE	6		
	2.16	RECEIVE AND FILE/RECEIVE, FILE AND PRINT	7		
	2.17	RECORDING OF VOTE	7		
	2.18	RECORDING AYES AND NOES	7		
	2.19	Borrowing Money	7		
	2.20	VOTE ON DISTINCT PROPOSITION	7		
	2.21	Abstentions	7		
	2.22	SPEAK WHEN RECOGNIZED BY CHAIR	7		
	2.23	Suspension of the Rules by Unanimous Consent	8		
	2.24	Presentation of Motion	8		
	2.25	WITHDRAWAL OF RESOLUTION OR MOTION	8		
	2.26	MOTIONS NOT AMENDABLE OR DEBATABLE	9		
	2.27	Previous Questions and Amendments	9		
	2.28	MOTIONS FOR RECONSIDERATION AND CHANGING ONE'S VOTE	9		
	2.29	Motion to Rescind	9		
	2.30	COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE	9		
	2.31	COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE-NO QUORUM; ADJOURNMENT	9		
	2.32	Presentations To Be In Writing	10		
	2.33	TIME FOR PRESENTATION TO CLERK	10		
	2.34	SAMPLE RESOLUTION AND ACCOMPANYING MEMORANDA	10		
	2.35	Solicitations	11		
	2.36	ALL POINTS OF ORDER NOT COVERED BY THESE RULES	11		

Erie County Legislature 2024 Rules of Order Table of Contents

SECTION 3.00	COMMITTEES		11
	3.01	RULES SHALL APPLY TO COMMITTEE MEETINGS	11
	3.02	STANDING AND SPECIAL COMMITTEES	11
	3.03	CHAIR EX-OFFICIO MEMBER OF ALL COMMITTEES	11
	3.04	RECORDING PRESENCE OR ABSENCE OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS	12
	3.05(1)	CONDUCT OF COMMITTEES	12
	3.05(2)	MATTERS REFERRED TO DEPARTMENT HEADS	12
	3.05(3)	REPORT ON ANY FINAL ACTION OF COMMITTEE	12
	3.05(4)	COMMITTEE AGENDA	12
	3.05(5)	OPEN ITEMS IN COMMITTEE	12
	3.06	COMMITTEE REPORT MADE BY MAJORITY OF COMMITTEE	12
	3.07	COMMITTEE REPORT BY STANDING AND SPECIAL COMMITTEES	12
Section 4.00	BUDGET		13
	4.01	Tentative Budget	13
	4.02	ANNUAL MEETING FOR THE ADOPTION OF BUDGET	13
	4.03	LEVY OF SCHOOL TAXES	13
	4.04	ADOPTION OF BUDGET	13
SECTION 5.00	MISCELLANEOUS		
	5.01	APPOINTMENTS AND CONFIRMATIONS	14
	5.02	Purchase Over \$10,000.00	14
	5.03	OFFER TO PURCHASE COUNTY-OWNED PROPERTY	14
	5.04	REDUCTION OF AGENDA	14
	5.05	DUTIES OF ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANTS	15
	5.06	ERIE COUNTY LEGISLATURE MAIL POLICY	15
	5.07	PROHIBITION OF USE OF AUDIBLE, PORTABLE COMMUNICATION DEVICES	15
	5.08(1)		
	5.08(2)	VISITORS TO THE ERIE COUNTY LEGISLATURE	15
	5.08(3)	FLOOR MOVEMENT	16
	5.08(4)	BANNERS, SIGNS AND PLACARDS	16
		DISTRIBUTION OF LITERATURE OR MATERIALS	
	5.08(6)	AUDIO RECORDING	16
	5.08(7)	VIDEO RECORDING	16
	5.08(8)	Dress Decorum	16
	5.08(9)	ELECTRONIC DEVICES	17
	5.08(10) Oath or Affirmation	17
) Violations	
	5.09	AMENDMENT OF RULES	17
SECTION 6.00	EFFECTIV	E DATE	17
	6.01	EFFECTIVE DATE	17

2024 RULES OF ORDER ERIE COUNTY LEGISLATURE

SECTION 1.00: ORGANIZATION

1.01 CHAIR

Annually, the members of the Erie County Legislature shall meet to organize no later than the 8th day of January in each calendar year. At such meeting, or at a recessed meeting, the Legislature shall select a member of the Legislature as the Chair by an affirmative vote of at least a majority of the entire membership of the Legislature. Upon his or her election, the Chair shall immediately assume all of the duties and responsibilities of the office.

The Chair shall possess the following powers and perform the following duties:

- 1. To preside over all meetings of the full Legislature; call the Legislature to order, direct a call of the roll, and, except in the absence of a quorum, proceed to business in a manner prescribed by these rules;
- 2. To preserve order and decorum;
- 3. To execute on behalf of the Legislature contracts and/or contract amendments and other documents authorized by the County Legislature and to execute all contracts necessary for the day-to-day operation and administration of the County Legislature without additional Legislative authorization;
- 4. To decide all questions of order, subject to appeal of the Legislature as hereinafter provided;
- 5. To recess meetings;
- 6. If the Legislature is ready to go into Committee of the Whole, to name a Chair to preside over such committee;
- 7. To name an open meetings advisor from among the legislators or legislative staff to advise the body on compliance with New York State Open Meetings and Freedom of Information laws and to name a Freedom of Information Law officer and a Freedom of Information Law Appeals Officer:
- 8. To order that a public hearing be held. Public Hearings shall be conducted a minimum of five (5) days before a related item can be considered by the Legislature unless otherwise prescribed by law. Said hearings shall be held no earlier than 6:00 pm on weekdays. However, ministerial Public Hearings involving departments of county government, such as those conducted for Sewerage Management and Public Works items, may be held during regular business hours. The Chair shall further ensure that notice of the time and date of each public hearing be posted on the Legislature's website not more than twenty-four (24) hours from the filing of the public notice.
- 9. To be a voting member ex-officio of all committees and to receive notice of all meetings thereof;

- 10. To serve as the Department Head of the Legislature, and to appoint and designate or terminate, within the budgetary appropriations, all officers and employees of the Legislature not required to be selected by other means under these Rules, or other State or County law;
- 11. To establish guidelines and criteria and approve the expenditure of funds in the budget of the Legislature for the printing and/or mailing of literature by members of the Legislature to their constituents within the appropriations therefore; provided, however, that no such literature shall be mailed at or delivered to any postal facility by such members during the period of forty five (45) days immediately prior to a date of a primary or general election in which such member is included or involved as a candidate, whether such election is a special, primary, or runoff election, and as provided for in section 5.06 of these rules;
- 12. To establish independent committees, boards, and commissions to report to the Chair and/or Legislature, and appoint or remove the members thereof;
- 13. To cancel Public Hearings for which the underlying item has been withdrawn;
- 14. Such other powers as may be set forth in more detail in these Rules or in state, federal, or local legislation.

1.02 MAJORITY AND MINORITY LEADERS:

Annually, the enrolled members of the two caucuses which shall have the greatest number of members seated in the Legislature shall elect a leader of their respective parties. A caucus shall be defined as a group of members or adherents of the same political party. The leader of the caucus whose membership of the Legislature constitutes a majority of the Legislature shall be known as the Majority Leader. The leader of the other caucus shall be known as Minority Leader. The Minority Leader shall have the responsibility to appoint and designate or terminate, within budgetary appropriations, which shall be allocated approximately proportionally, based on the number of members in the Minority Caucus, all officers and employees of the Legislature Minority.

For the purpose of complying with the provisions of Section 200, subdivision 1 of the County Law, in the event that neither the members of one caucus nor the other constitute a majority of the members of the County Legislature, the Chair of the Legislature shall designate one caucus leader as the Majority Leader and the other as the Minority Leader for the purpose of budgetary appropriation and other matters.

1.03 ACTING CHAIR:

In the absence of the Chair from any meeting of the Legislature, the designated Majority Leader shall become acting Chair with all the powers and duties of Chair for so long as the Chair is absent.

In the event of this occurrence, the Majority Leader shall not act in both capacities. The Majority Caucus shall designate an acting Majority Leader for so long as the Majority Leader is acting Chair.

SECTION 2.00: MEETINGS

2.01 REGULAR SESSION:

Regular sessions of the Legislature shall be held at least twice monthly, except in August, as designated by the Chair. The schedule of regular sessions shall be determined by the Chair who shall notify members of the Legislature concerning the same no later than January 1, of each year.

All regular sessions and all adjourned sessions shall be open for consideration of any matter, which in accordance with these rules, may be properly brought to the attention of the Legislature.

2.02 SPECIAL MEETINGS:

Special meetings shall be held at the call of the Clerk of the Legislature upon direction of the Chair or upon filing with the Clerk of the Legislature of a written request signed by a majority of the members of the Legislature. Notice in writing, stating the time, place and purpose of the special meeting shall be served personally, by facsimile transmission, by e-mail, by mail or by affixing to the door of the premises of the residential address upon each member by the Clerk of the Legislature at least forty-eight (48) hours before the date and time fixed for holding the meeting, or a member may waive the service of the notice for such meeting in writing. Only business specified in the notice thereof may be transacted at a special meeting.

Service by facsimile transmission, or e-mail of the Notice of Special Meeting, pursuant to this section, is authorized and constitutes service upon each member at a facsimile telephone number or County assigned e-mail address provided to the Clerk by the member of the Legislature for that purpose. A confirmation record produced by the Clerk's facsimile machine or computer and an affidavit of service by the Clerk of the Legislature, shall be *prima facie* evidence that the Notice of Special Meeting and transmitted documents were served consistent with the date, time and place appearing on the confirmation record. Facsimile transmission or e-mail of the Notice of Special Meeting may be transmitted at any time of the day or night, Monday through Friday, to the appropriate facsimile telephone number and will be deemed served upon receipt of the facsimile transmission, except that Notices of Special Meeting sent on a Friday shall be deemed duly served if the Clerk's confirmation record and affidavit demonstrate that facsimile transmissions or e-mails for all members of the Legislature were completed by 5 p.m. on that Friday. Nothing in this rule shall prohibit personal service of a Notice of Special Meeting on Friday after 5 p.m., or on a Saturday or a Sunday.

2.03 QUORUM:

A majority of the duly constituted membership of the Legislature shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, but a lesser number may adjourn.

During the State of Emergency, a legislator or legislators affected who cannot physically be present in the Legislative Chambers for a legislative session or legislative committee may, through advance written notice filed with the Clerk of the Legislature, participate in a legislative session or legislative committee via video or audio conferencing.

During the State of Emergency, and pursuant to a written letter submitted by the Chair of the Legislature directing so, the Legislature may convene and meet in legislative sessions or committees via video or audio conferencing, so long as the public may watch/listen to such sessions or committees.

2.04 CHAIR TO SECURE A QUORUM:

In the absence of a quorum during the sessions of the Legislature, the Chair may take such measures as provided by law and as the Chair may deem necessary to secure the presence of a quorum.

2.05 ROLL CALL, MINUTES, ABSENCES:

At any and every meeting of the Legislature, upon the members being called to order by the Chair, the roll of members shall be called by the Clerk, and the names of those absent shall be inserted in the Minutes. The Majority and Minority Leaders should note the absence of any of their members because of county business, established illness, death and/or bereavement in the family or of a close associate and such absence shall be carried in the Minutes as an excused absence. The Minutes of the preceding meeting, when available, shall then be presented for approval to the end that any corrections, alterations, or additions may be made. In all cases when an order, resolution or a motion shall be entered in the Minutes of the Legislature, the name of the member presenting or moving the same and seconding shall be entered.

2.06 ORDER OF BUSINESS:

The Order of Business of each session shall be:

- 1. Calling the roll of members by the Clerk;
- 2. Consideration of the Minutes of the preceding meeting(s);
- 3. Consideration and presentation of miscellaneous resolutions. Each legislator shall be entitled to four (4) annual presentations including "Citizen of the Month", with no regular session having more than two (2) presentations. Selection of presentations shall be determined by the order in which requests are filed with the Clerk of the Legislature;
- 4. The consideration of Communications, Local Laws and Resolutions on the Table of the Legislature;
- 5. Reports of Standing Committees;
- 6. Reports of Special Committees;
- 7. Presentation of Resolutions;
- 8. Presentation of Resolutions and Communications to be Discharged from a Standing Committee or Special Committee;
- 9. Presentation of Resolutions and Communications which require a Suspension of the Rules for the purpose of considering the item or sending it to committee;
- 10. Presentation of Communications from Elected County Officials, County Departments, and the People and Other Agencies;
- 11. Unfinished Business;

- 12. Announcements from the Chair;
- 13. Announcement of Committee Meetings;
- 14. Presentation of Memorial Resolutions; and
- 15. Adjournment.

The Chair in his or her discretion may change the Order of Business at any session except as otherwise provided in Section 4.04.

2.07 ORDER DURING SESSION:

The Chair shall take the chair at the hour specified for the convening of the Legislature and shall preserve order and decorum. In debate, all remarks must be addressed to the Chair and confined to the question before the Legislature. The Chair shall prevent personal reflections and confine members to the question under discussion.

The Chair shall decide all questions of order, which decisions shall be final, unless an appeal is taken to the Legislature and sustained.

2.08 APPEAL FROM THE CHAIR'S RULING:

On every appeal, the Chair shall have the right to assign his/her reasons for such decision. If the question on which the appeal is taken was not debatable, the Legislature shall decide the case without debate. If debatable, no member shall speak more than once.

The Chair shall put the question: "Shall the Ruling of the Chair be overturned?"

A motion to overrule a decision or ruling of the Chair shall require approval by a majority vote of the Legislature.

2.09 PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR:

No person shall be entitled to the privilege of the floor during the session of the Legislature, unless unanimous consent be given therefore.

2.10 REFERRALS TO COMMITTEE:

The Chair, at his or her discretion, may refer to the proper committee or shall table any petition, resolution, local law, amendment or other matter when presented, and may similarly refer to the County Attorney for attention any legal proceeding brought against the county. The Chair's decision to refer any item to committee or to the County Attorney or to table an item is not amendable or debatable, and can only be challenged in accordance with Section 2.08 herein. Once the appeal from the Chair's ruling has been decided however, and if the same has been a determination in favor of the Chair's referral or other action, the petition, resolution, local law, amendment or other matter cannot be discharged from such committee for reconsideration or other action at the same legislative session without the unanimous vote of the Legislature.

During regular meetings, the Chair has the floor for all agenda assignments, yet may yield the floor at his or her discretion. As the Chair assigns any item submitted to the Legislature to the appropriate

committee, including legislator resolutions or any other open item requested for immediate consideration, or makes any other change to the assignment of agenda items, no debate or discussion shall be in order. Agenda assignments or changes can be appealed as per Section 2.08 above. This section is augmented by Sections 2.06 and 2.13 herein.

2.11 MEMBER NOT TO SPEAK OR LEAVE HIS OR HER PLACE:

While the Chair is putting a question, or while the roll is being called, no member shall speak or leave his or her place. The Chair shall allow opportunity for debate before the roll is called.

2.12 TIE VOTE:

When the Legislature shall be equally divided on any question, including the Chair's vote, the question shall be deemed to have been lost.

2.13 PRIORITY OF BUSINESS:

All questions relative to priority of business shall be decided by the Chair without debate, except as otherwise provided in Section 4.03, and the Chair's decision shall be final.

2.14 LIMITATION ON TIME OF SPEECH:

No member shall speak more than five minutes at any one time, nor more than twice on the same question without permission by majority vote of the Legislature.

However, all members shall be given an opportunity to explain their vote during a recording of ayes and noes pursuant to Rule 2.18 of this section.

During any debate occurring on the floor of the Legislature the lead sponsor, or his or her designee, in debate may be directly addressed with questions specifically relating to the item in front of the Legislature. Direct questions shall count as one of the two opportunities to speak and the member asking questions will be afforded the entirety of their time. All questions must be confined to the limitations otherwise imposed in this Rule.

The response from the lead sponsor, or his or her designee, must be related to the question asked and may be reasonably limited at the discretion of the Chair of the Legislature. For the purposes of this Rule the lead sponsor shall be the member whose name is listed first on the item at debate. The lead sponsor's responses shall not count against his or her time allowances afforded under this section.

This rule does not apply to the vote explanation allowed pursuant to 2.18, no questions are allowed during that time.

2.15 MAJORITY VOTE:

A majority of the total vote of the entire membership of the Legislature shall be necessary to carry any question, proposition, resolution, motion, amendment or any other matter, except where it is otherwise provided herein or by statute that a two thirds vote or a unanimous vote is required. Local laws, resolutions or amendments introduced by any member(s) of the Legislature and communications from elected officials requiring approval shall be approved or disapproved by a majority vote of the full Legislature, except in such instances when items are removed from the agenda pursuant to Section 5.04.

2.16 RECEIVE AND FILE/RECEIVE, FILE AND PRINT:

The Chair, at his or her discretion, may receive and file or receive, file and print any question, proposition, resolution, motion, amendment or any other matter. The Chair's decision to receive and file or receive, file and print any question, proposition, resolution, motion, amendment or any other matter is not amendable or debatable, and can only be challenged in accordance with Section 2.08 herein.

2.17 RECORDING OF VOTE:

Any member shall have the right to have his or her vote recorded and entered upon the minutes upon request, without explanation, and without requiring the ayes and noes to be called.

2.18 RECORDING AYES AND NOES:

On a roll call, the ayes and noes shall be taken without explanation on any question wherever so required by law, or by any member, and whenever so taken shall be entered in the proceedings of the Legislature, and the Clerk shall record the names of the members and the way each shall have respectively voted. The roll is called of the minority members first, in alphabetical order, followed immediately by the majority members, in alphabetical order. Each member, as his or her name is called, shall respond in the affirmative or in the negative, as the case may be. Every member is entitled one (1) minute to explain their vote during the roll call or voice vote. Each member, however, shall be allowed to pass on the first call of the roll. To verify the vote and to correct possible errors, and to allow such members as passed on the first call of the roll; the Clerk shall repeat the call of the roll once, and only once. The only exception to this procedure is if the member abstains from voting in accordance with Section 2.21 herein.

2.19 BORROWING MONEY:

The ayes and noes shall be taken on all resolutions or other proceedings involving the granting of authority to borrow money and such other resolutions and proceedings, as the statute requires.

2.20 VOTE ON DISTINCT PROPOSITION:

If the question in debate contains several distinct propositions, the same shall be divided by the Chair at the request of any member, to the end that a vote may be taken on each proposition, but a motion to strike out and insert shall be deemed indivisible.

2.21 ABSTENTIONS:

Every member who shall be physically present in the Legislative Chambers when a question is stated by the Chair must cast his or her vote on the same. The only exception to this procedure is when a member abstains from voting in accordance with Section 5b of Erie County Local Law No. 2- 2018, constituting the Erie County Code of Ethics. If a member wrongfully attempts to avoid casting his or her vote, abstain, or otherwise refuses to vote, the Chair shall direct the Clerk to record such member's vote in the affirmative on the question being voted upon.

2.22 SPEAK WHEN RECOGNIZED BY CHAIR:

No member wishing to speak shall proceed without standing and without having addressed the Chair from his or her place and until obtaining recognition by the Chair.

2.23 SUSPENSION OF THE RULES BY UNANIMOUS CONSENT:

These rules may at any time during the session be suspended by unanimous consent of all members of the Legislature present; however, the member making the application for such suspension must state the purpose for which the same is asked.

These rules may be suspended by a majority vote of the Legislature for the purpose of referring any item to committee provided that said item may not be discharged for action at the same meeting at which the suspension is granted. The unanimous consent of all members of the Legislature present shall be required, however, to suspend the rules to permit action on an item at the same meeting at which such suspension is requested.

A member shall submit to the Chair of the Legislature, a written copy of the item which he or she proposes to suspend the rules for referring said item to committee or for permitting action on said item at least three (3) hours prior to the session at which the request for such suspension is considered, and the member making said application for such suspension shall state the purpose for which the same is asked.

2.24 PRESENTATION OF MOTION:

When a question shall be under consideration, no motion shall be received except as herein specified, which motion, termed subsidiary motions, shall have precedence in the order named, to wit:

- 1. For an adjournment of the Legislature;
- 2. A call of the Legislature;
- 3. To move the previous question;
- 4. To lay on the table;
- 5. To postpone indefinitely;
- 6. To postpone to a certain day;
- 7. To go immediately into a Committee of the Whole on the pending subject;
- 8. To recess;
- 9. To commit to a Standing Committee;
- 10. To commit to a Special Committee; and
- 11. To amend.

2.25 WITHDRAWAL OF RESOLUTION OR MOTION:

Any resolution or motion offered by a member may be withdrawn by the member presenting it at any time before an announcement by the Chair of the vote thereon or before an amendment to such resolution or motion has been adopted.

2.26 MOTIONS NOT AMENDABLE OR DEBATABLE:

All motions for an adjournment, for a recess, to move the previous question, or to lay on the table shall be neither amended nor debated. After the roll call on any question has begun, no member shall speak on the question nor shall any motion be made until after the result is declared. While the Chair is putting any question, or while the roll is being called, no debate or discussion shall be in order.

2.27 PREVIOUS QUESTIONS AND AMENDMENTS:

The "Previous Question" shall be as follows:

- 1. "I move the previous question" applies only to the specific pending question being debated whether it be an amendment or any other issue. If an amendment is being debated, the "previous question" is called, and a vote taken on the amendment, then the next amendment, if there is one, or the resolution should be debated
- 2. If a motion is approved for the "previous question" and is qualified as being called to end debate on the resolution and all amendments, then no further debate can be permitted. Such a motion can be qualified in any manner, i.e., to end debate only on amendment, or on all pending questions.

2.28 MOTIONS FOR RECONSIDERATION AND CHANGING ONE'S VOTE:

A motion for reconsideration or a motion to change one's vote shall not be in order unless made on the same day, or at the next Legislative Session.

A motion to reconsider must be made by a member who voted with the prevailing side on the action proposed to be reconsidered. A member has the right to change his or her vote up to the time the result is announced; after that a change of vote can be made only by permission of the Legislature, which can be given by general consent, or by adoption of a motion to change one's vote.

When a motion to reconsider or a motion to change one's vote has been defeated, it shall not again be submitted to the Legislature without unanimous consent.

2.29 MOTION TO RESCIND:

A motion to rescind can only be entertained when moved by a member who voted with the majority in the action which it is proposed to rescind, and requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the total members of the Legislature.

2.30 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE:

The Legislature may, at any time when in session, resolve itself into a Committee of the Whole on any subject before it, and in such case, the Chair may name a member to preside.

2.31 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE- NO QUORUM; ADJOURNMENT:

If at any time within a Committee of the Whole it be ascertained that there is no quorum, the Chair of the Legislature or the Chair of the Committee of the Whole, if so named, shall immediately report the fact to the Chair of the Legislature and the adjournment of the Committee of the Whole shall be in order.

2.32 PRESENTATIONS TO BE IN WRITING:

All petitions, resolutions, committee reports, amendments, and items discharged from a committee thereof, shall be in writing. Legislators requesting a discharge from a committee must present a paper copy of the item on the floor for the discharge.

2.33 TIME FOR PRESENTATION TO CLERK:

Except as provided in Section 2.02, all petitions, resolutions, offers, or communication of whatever nature shall be submitted to the Clerk of the Legislature before 10:00 a.m., two (2) business days prior to a regular meeting date, for presentation by the Clerk of the Legislature at the next meeting. For the purpose of this rule, business day shall be defined in reference to Section 206 of the New York State County Law.

In the event that two business days before session is a recognized holiday or a recognized holiday occurs within two business days before a regular meeting date, the appropriate clock-in day will be the first business day of the week in which the regular meeting date is held.

An agenda of all matters before the Legislature shall be prepared by the Clerk of the Legislature, who shall determine the particular order of agenda items in keeping with Section 2.06.

2.34 SAMPLE RESOLUTION AND ACCOMPANYING MEMORANDA:

The Clerk of the Legislature shall not place any request for legislative action, which is filed by a county elected official, other than a county legislator, or by a nonelected county official, on the agenda for a regular or special legislative session, unless such request includes a sample resolution and an accompanying memorandum, which presents and includes:

- A SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDED ACTION
- FISCAL IMPLICATIONS OF PROPOSAL
 - o If the proposal is creating new, or extending existing, county personnel, include the:
 - Annualized salary required of the position(s)
 - Pro-rated salary required for the remainder of the current fiscal year
 - Funding source(s) to be utilized to cover the costs. If the proposed funding source is a grant, include:
 - Grant source (federal, state, charitable, etc.)
 - Grant duration
 - Grant funding remaining after creation of the new position(s)
 - A contingency plan should the existing grant be discontinued
- REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
- BACKGROUND OF PROPOSAL
 - o If the proposal creates a new position, or extends an existing position, include an:
 - Affirmation as to whether the duties required of the position are required by law or contract
 - Affirmation as to whether the position is managerial confidential or Competitive Civil Service
- CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION
- STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL OF MEASURE

2.35 SOLICITATIONS:

No solicitation of funds for any purpose shall be permitted during any session of the Legislature.

2.36 ALL POINTS OF ORDER NOT COVERED BY THESE RULES:

On all points of order not governed by the rules of this Legislature, the most recent edition of Robert's Rules of Order shall prevail. In the event that a point of order shall arise which shall not be covered by either the Rules of Order for the Legislature or by the most recent edition of Robert's Rules of Order, the Rules of the New York State Assembly shall be followed.

SECTION 3.00: COMMITTEES

3.01 RULES SHALL APPLY TO COMMITTEE MEETINGS:

The Rules of the Legislature, except Section 2.09, shall apply to all committee meetings.

3.02 STANDING AND SPECIAL COMMITTEES:

There shall be the following standing committees which shall consist of five members each (including a Chair, Vice-Chair and three members), except the Finance and Management/Budget Committee which shall consist of seven members (including a Chair, Vice-Chair and five members) for the purpose of considering and acting upon the County Executive's Annual Budget, and all matters relating thereto.

The members of each committee shall be appointed by the Chair of the Legislature within twenty (20) days, or as soon as possible, after his or her election or appointment and the list of the committees shall be filed with the Clerk of the Legislature and printed in the minutes of the Legislature.

STANDING COMMITTEES

Community Enrichment
Economic Development
Energy and Environment
Finance and Management
Government Affairs
Health and Human Services
Minority and Women Business Enterprise
Public Safety
Small Business

SPECIAL COMMITTEES

The Chair of the Legislature in his or her discretion may appoint such Special Committees, the number of members of which shall be as the Chair may determine.

3.03 CHAIR EX-OFFICIO MEMBER OF ALL COMMITTEES:

The Chair shall be a member Ex-officio of all committees with a vote thereon.

The Chair's presence at a meeting shall be counted in determining whether a quorum is present. Any vacancies occurring during the year on any Standing or Special Committee shall be filled by the Chair at his or her discretion.

3.04 RECORDING PRESENCE OR ABSENCE OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS:

The Chair of every Standing and Special Committee shall record and certify on a form provided by the Clerk of the Legislature the names of all members present and absent from all regularly called committee meetings. Said certificate shall be filed with the Clerk and shall be the official record of committee attendance.

3.05(1) CONDUCT OF COMMITTEES:

All committees appointed by the Chair shall act promptly on all matters referred to them. It shall be the duty of the members of said committees to familiarize themselves with the departments of county government and the work entrusted to each of such committees.

3.05(2) MATTERS REFERRED TO DEPARTMENT HEADS:

Any matter referred by a committee to a department head for report or study shall be laid on the committee table for one week unless a longer period is specified by the committee.

3.05(3) REPORT ON ANY FINAL ACTION OF COMMITTEE:

Any final action taken by a majority of the members of the committee shall be included in the committee's report of its meeting and the committee's action shall be subject to approval of the Legislature by a majority vote of its total membership.

3.05(4) COMMITTEE AGENDA:

An agenda of all matters before a committee shall be prepared by the Clerk of the Legislature.

3.05(5) OPEN ITEMS IN COMMITTEE:

At the discretion of the Committee Chair, an item or items may be allowed to remain on the agenda indefinitely in that particular Committee to allow for consideration of that item and to serve as a vehicle for the committee to amend and send to the full Legislature, within the committee report, for consideration, subject to conditions provided in Section 5.04.

3.06 COMMITTEE REPORT MADE BY MAJORITY OF COMMITTEE:

No report shall be made by any committee on any subject referred to it except by a majority vote of the total membership of the committee unless the Legislature otherwise directs. All reports of committees shall be in writing and presented to the full Legislature for consideration at the next succeeding regular session of the Legislature, except the report of the Finance and Management/Budget Committee on the County Executive's Tentative Annual Budget, as provided in Section 4.01.

3.07 COMMITTEE REPORT BY STANDING AND SPECIAL COMMITTEES:

All reports of Standing and Special Committees, all motions except subsidiary motions under Sections 2.08, 2.27, 2.28, 2.29 and 2.30 and all resolutions shall lie upon the table one day before action thereon or adoption by the Legislature (unless immediate consideration is given by a majority vote of the Legislature). This rule shall not apply to reports of Standing and Special Committees on the last regular session before summer adjournment nor on the last regularly adjourned session at the close of the year.

SECTION 4.00: BUDGET

4.01 TENTATIVE BUDGET:

The County Executive shall, on or before the date set forth in the Charter or established by Local Law revising same, submit twenty (20) copies of the tentative budget to the Legislature. The Finance and Management/Budget Committee is hereby designated to receive and study the tentative budget and to report thereon. The Chair of the Finance and Management/Budget Committee shall present such tentative budget to the Finance and Management/Budget Committee for its consideration. The Finance and Management/Budget Committee shall hold such meetings thereon as it may determine, and may require any officer or employee of the county or the head of any county department, bureau, office, board or commission, or of any organization receiving financial aid from the county, to appear before the committee for the purpose of furnishing any information required by the committee in its consideration of the tentative budget. After such consideration, the Finance and Management/Budget Committee shall submit the tentative budget, with such amendments or changes therein as the committee may determine, together with its report thereon, to the Legislature not later than the sixth of December in each year. The report of the Finance and Management/Budget Committee shall be submitted to the Legislature and lay on the table forty-eight (48) hours prior to the Annual Meeting established by Section 2508 of the Charter.

Budget amendments proposed less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the Annual Meeting shall be considered and voted on as described in Section 4.04. Such amendments less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the Annual Meeting shall be limited to special or essential items for which information was not available in time to meet the forty-eight (48) hour requirement.

4.02 ANNUAL MEETING FOR THE ADOPTION OF BUDGET:

The Annual Meeting for the adoption of the Budget and for the levying of taxes for all county and town purposes prescribed by law shall be held pursuant to Section 2508 of the Charter.

4.03 LEVY OF SCHOOL TAXES:

The annual levy of school taxes pursuant to the Erie County Tax Act, as amended, shall be made at the regular meeting held on the first Thursday of September in each year.

4.04 ADOPTION OF BUDGET:

Not later than the second business day after the sixth of December, following the submission of the tentative budget, the budget shall be the first order of business. Upon conclusion of the consideration of the budget, as provided in the Charter and Code, the motion to adopt the budget, either with amendments thereto, if any, to make the necessary appropriations therefore shall be the next order of business.

Any amendments to the Finance and Management/Budget Committee Report, which are proposed less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the annual meeting prescribed by the County Charter, Section 2508, for adoption of a budget, shall be considered, justified and voted on in accordance with the Erie County Charter and Code.

SECTION 5.00: MISCELLANEOUS

5.01 APPOINTMENTS AND CONFIRMATIONS:

All appointments by this Legislature shall lay on the table one day except for appointments made for the purpose of organizing the Legislature and the reappointment of incumbents, which may be acted on immediately. All appointments requiring the confirmation of the Legislature may be acted on immediately.

Candidates, including incumbents seeking reappointment, for the position of Commissioner of the Erie County Water Authority, shall formally submit, in writing, to the Chair of the Legislature, notice of their candidacy for that position. The Chair of the Legislature shall notify the Chair of the Erie County Legislature's Energy and Environment Committee of such applicant(s) for the office of Commissioner of the Erie County Water Authority. Upon said notification, the Chair of the Energy and Environment Committee shall schedule a public meeting, with a minimum of five (5) business days notice to members of the Legislature and the general public, within fifteen (15) days of receipt of notification from the Chair of the Legislature, for the purpose of interviewing the candidate(s).

5.02 PURCHASE OVER \$10,000.00:

Pursuant to Section 3.07 of the Administrative Code, the sum of \$10,000.00, is hereby fixed as the limit above which any purchases for contract for supplies may not be made without public advertisement. On purchases under \$10,000.00, as far as practicable, every purchase made by the Purchasing Director shall be made on bids first obtained from at least three (3) sources, except where a vendor will extend GSA contract pricing to the county, the Purchasing Director may purchase from that vendor without competitive bidding. A notation of the GSA contract number shall appear on the purchase order. Purchase requisitions and/or inquiry bid files for items under \$10,000.00 shall include a notation in writing indicating the names of at least three (3) vendors who were contacted, the name of the individuals quoting for the firm, the date contacted, and the prices quoted by the vendors. A contract awarded therefore shall be to the lowest responsible bidder.

5.03 OFFER TO PURCHASE COUNTY-OWNED PROPERTY:

The Erie County Legislature shall not adopt any resolution, which changes the status of county-owned land until such time as the proposal has been reviewed and recommended by the Department of Environment and Planning's County-Owned Lands Policy Advisory Board. The Clerk of the Legislature shall be responsible for referring all offers to purchase county-owned property to the Commissioner of Environment and Planning.

5.04 REDUCTION OF AGENDA:

Any item on a committee agenda, including but not limited to Local Laws, Resolutions, communications from the departments, and communications from other officials will be removed from the agenda one (1) calendar year from the date of their introduction.

The Chair of the Committee may, on his or her motion or request, keep an expired item on the table for an additional calendar year. The motion or request to leave an item on the table is not amendable or debatable, and can only be challenged in accordance with Section 2.08 herein.

5.05 DUTIES OF ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANTS:

The Administrative Assistants and other such staff as designated by the Chair of the Legislature and Leader of the Minority shall, in addition to the duties ordinarily performed by such officials, perform such other duties as shall be assigned to each during sessions and committee meetings of the Legislature.

5.06 ERIE COUNTY LEGISLATURE MAIL POLICY:

- 1. References to political parties and/or party affiliations are prohibited on all legislative mailings.
- 2. The Chair, at his/her discretion, may authorize Committee Chairs and their Clerks to send informational mailings that are germane to pending committee agenda items.
- 3. Members are entitled to use their annual discretionary district office expense account for targeted informational mailings (notifications, announcements, etc.) to constituents in their districts. Postage expenses, like other district office expenses, are itemized. District Offices are required to maintain copies of all targeted informational mailings, and to file a true and complete copy of same with the Clerk of the Legislature, commensurate with the mailing of same. Any such mailings must be postmarked and mailed no later than forty-five (45) days prior to the date of the Erie County Legislature Primary and/or General Election.
- 4. The above policy shall be reviewed periodically and wherever possible, electronic notification and communication shall be used. All mailings should contain the Legislature's and/or the legislator's county web page address.

5.07 PROHIBITION OF USE OF AUDIBLE, PORTABLE COMMUNICATION DEVICES:

During sessions and committee meetings of the Legislature, the use of audible, portable communication devices, including, but not limited to cellular telephones and pagers, shall be prohibited, except for non-audible receipt activation. Such prohibition shall be in effect for members and staff of the Legislature, as well as for invited witnesses, visitors, and members of the general public attending such sessions or meetings. Such prohibition shall not include the use of microphones, electronic recording devices, video recording equipment or portable computers used for the purposes of recording the proceedings of legislative sessions or committee meetings if done in a nondisruptive manner.

5.08(1) DECORUM IN LEGISLATURE CHAMBER:

In accordance with Article 7 of the N.Y. Public Officers Law, the Erie County Legislature hereby finds that it is essential to the maintenance of a democratic society that the business of Erie County be performed in an open and public manner. The citizens of Erie County and other governmental officials should be able to attend and observe their legislators during public deliberations subject to certain rules to allow this Honorable Body to properly consider the issues before it.

5.08(2) VISITORS TO THE ERIE COUNTY LEGISLATURE:

All visitors and spectators to the Erie County Legislature must be respectful and obey the rules of order promulgated by this Honorable Body.

5.08(3) FLOOR MOVEMENT:

In order to preserve the order, decorum and security of this Honorable Body, the floor of the Legislature Chamber will be restricted during sessions and public hearings to Legislators, Legislature Staff, Countywide Elected Officials, Administration Representatives, Department Heads and others granted permission by the Chair of the Erie County Legislature.

5.08(4) BANNERS, SIGNS AND PLACARDS:

Any display of banners, signs, or placards in the Legislature Chamber or Committee Rooms that is disruptive to the deliberative process of the Erie County Legislature and not previously authorized by the Clerk of the Erie County Legislature is strictly prohibited.

5.08(5) DISTRIBUTION OF LITERATURE OR MATERIALS:

Any distribution of literature or materials in the Legislature Chamber or Committee Rooms not previously authorized by the Clerk of the Erie County Legislature is strictly prohibited.

5.08(6) AUDIO RECORDING:

Audio recording of the public proceedings of the Erie County Legislature's sessions, committee meetings and public hearings shall be permitted under the following conditions:

- a) any unobtrusive audio recorder may be used provided that such recording is restricted to the open and public areas of the Legislature Chamber and Committee Rooms; and
- b) only credentialed members of the news media will be allowed access to the audio/visual equipment of the Erie County Legislature.

5.08(7) VIDEO RECORDING:

Video recording of the public proceedings of the Erie County Legislature's sessions, committee meetings and public hearings shall be permitted under the following conditions:

- a) any unobtrusive video recorder may be used provided that such recording is restricted to the open and public areas of the Legislature Chamber and Committee Rooms; and
- b) only credentialed members of the news media will be allowed access to the audio/visual equipment of the Erie County Legislature; and
- c) no light, visible signal or audible sound shall be used on any video equipment to indicate that the equipment is operating.

5.08(8) DRESS DECORUM:

Denim of any form is prohibited from attire of any member of the Legislature or staff in the Legislative Chambers during any event involving formal business of the county including, but not limited to, sessions, committee meetings, public hearings, and informational hearings.

5.08(9) ELECTRONIC DEVICES

All electronic devices shall be maintained on silent or vibrate mode and any disruption caused by a personal electronic device shall be grounds for removal under section 5.08(11).

5.08(10) OATH OR AFFIRMATION:

The Chair of the Legislature, or committee, has the power to request anyone speaking in front of the Legislature take an oath affirming the truthfulness of the information being presented on the floor. This applies to any situation where the Legislature will be using the facts presented in making a decision. The discretion to use this power is within the control of the Chair of the Legislature or committee, depending on the body being presented with the information.

The Chair in charge of the meeting will ask the speaker, "Do you swear that what you are about to present is, to the best of your knowledge, both true and correct?"

Speaker must answer in the affirmative or leave the floor until such a time as they are able to make the oath in the affirmative. If the speaker is unable to answer in the affirmative, a vote of the majority of the committee or the Legislature as a whole shall be taken as to whether to allow him or her access to the floor.

5.08(11) VIOLATIONS:

Any violation of the order or decorum of the Legislature subjects an offending party to removal from the Erie County Legislature's sessions, committee meetings and public hearings and possible forfeiture of their right to attend future sessions, committee meetings and public hearings of this Honorable Body.

5.09 AMENDMENT OF RULES:

These rules shall not be rescinded, altered, or amended, nor shall any additional rule be added, except by a majority vote of the total members of the Legislature, and only after at least one day's notice in writing, filed with the Clerk of the Legislature. Any additions to the Rules of Order shall be underlined and deletions shall be bracketed [] or marked-up using the Track Changes function in Microsoft Word.

SECTION 6.00: EFFECTIVE DATE

6.01 EFFECTIVE DATE:

These rules shall be effective immediately upon adoption by a majority vote of the total membership of the Legislature.

Erie County Legislature 2024 Rules of Order Index

A	MEETINGS3
ABSENCES4	MEMBER NOT TO SPEAK OR LEAVE HIS OR HER PLACE6
Abstentions7	MISCELLANEOUS14
ACTING CHAIR2	0
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANTS	OATH OR AFFIRMATION
AMENDABLE OR DEBATABLE MOTIONS9	OPEN ITEMS IN COMMITTEE
AMENDMENT OF RULES	ORDER DURING SESSION5
APPEAL FROM THE CHAIR'S RULING5	Order of Business4
APPOINTMENTS AND CONFIRMATIONS14	ORGANIZATION1
В	Р
BANNERS, SIGNS AND PLACARDS16	Presentation of Motion8
Borrowing Money7	Presentations-Member4
BUDGET - ADOPTION13	Presentations To Be in Writing10
BUDGET ANNUAL MEETING FOR ADOPTION13	Previous Questions and Amendments9
BUDGET TENTATIVE	PRIORITY OF BUSINESS6
BUDGET	PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR5
C	PURCHASE COUNTY-OWNED PROPERTY14
CHAIR1	Purchase Over \$10,000.0014
CHAIR EX-OFFICIO MEMBER OF ALL COMMITTEES11	Q
COMMITTEE AGENDA	QUORUM3
COMMITTEE-FINAL ACTION12	R
COMMITTEE MEETING RULES11	RECEIVE AND FILE/RECEIVE, FILE AND PRINT7
COMMITTEE MEMBERS ATTENDANCE	RECONSIDERATION AND CHANGING ONE'S VOTE MOTION9
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE9	RECORDING AUDIO16
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE-NO QUORUM; ADJOURNMENT9	RECORDING VIDEO16
COMMITTEE REPORT BY STANDING AND SPECIAL COMMITTEES12	RECORDING AYES AND NOES7
COMMITTEE REPORT LIE ON TABLE12	RECORDING OF VOTE7
COMMITTEE-REFERRAL TO DEPARTMENT HEAD12	REDUCTION OF AGENDA14
COMMITTEES STANDING AND SPECIAL	REFERRALS TO COMMITTEE5
COMMITTEES	REGULAR SESSION3
COMMITTEES-CONDUCT	RESCIND MOTION9
COMMUNICATION DEVICES AUDIBLE15	RESOLUTION AND ACCOMPANYING MEMORANDA SAMPLE10
	ROLL CALL, MINUTES, ABSENCES4
D	RULES TO FOLLOW WHEN NOT COVERED12
DECORUM IN LEGISLATURE CHAMBER15	S
DISTINCT PROPOSITION – VOTE ON7	SOLICITATIONS12
Dress Decorum16	SPEAK WHEN RECOGNIZED BY CHAIR7
E	SPEAKING LIMITATIONS6
EFFECTIVE DATE	SPECIAL MEETINGS
ELECTRONIC DEVICES	SUSPENSION OF THE RULES BY UNANIMOUS CONSENT8
F	Т
FLOOR MOVEMENT16	TIE VOTE6
L	TIME FOR PRESENTATION TO CLERK
LEVY OF SCHOOL TAXES	V
LITERATURE OR MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION16	VIOLATIONS OF ORDER OR DECORUM
M	VISITORS TO THE ERIE COUNTY LEGISLATURE15
MAIL POLICY-LEGISLATURE	W
MAJORITY AND MINORITY LEADERS2	WITHDRAWAL OF RESOLUTION OR MOTION8
MAJORITY VOTE6	